Towards Lucchesia: 

Popiglio and Lima valley

The southwestern boundary called Capitanato between Pistoiese Mountain and the Republic of Lucca is located in the higher part of the Lima Valley. It has always had both commercial and military strategic relevance. For people who lived on the mountains and for those that had to cross the Apennines from Modena and Bologna, it was the doorway to the Serchio Valley and Lucca towards the Tyrrhenian Sea. As it is on the border and hence reason for conflict between Pistoia and Lucca, it provided space for commerce and room for growth on one hand, and difficult situations to be managed on the other. This generated the importance, since medieval times, of the fortified villages that controlled the medieval roads, and most of all Popiglio and Piteglio. Popiglio (also known as Pupiglio as mentioned by Ripetti in 1841) with towers later abandoned, was one of the most populated mountain areas. It is situated “on the western side of a hill, on the right bank of the river Lima and is crossed by a stone bridge called Pupiglio which used to house the customs guard”. Piteglio, now a municipality, is located on the opposite side, “on the peak of a hill, with buildings that go surround the older ruins of the tower, whilst on the western base runs the Lesina and on the other side runs the Torbecchia of Piteglio, both tributary rivers on the left of the river Lima”. (E. Repetti, Dictionary of Tuscan Geography History Phisycs, Florence 1833-1845).

The towers and fortified villages

The Roman origin of the renowned “Popiglio Towers” seems to have been confuted by more recent findings which prove that the ruins found on the top of the hill dominating the populate area of Popiglio correspond to a medieval castle. Its name is the only evidence of the presence of a Roman settlement in this part of the Mountain of Pistoia, which witnessed the erection of numerous important fortified villages. Documentary traces of these, such as in Piteglio, where the parish is commemorated in a document dated 1005. Popiglio is also commemorated in a document written by Pope Innocenzo II dated 1133. All these villages, quite heavily populated in 13th century, took part, siding with either part at different times,  in the battles that occurred in the Pistoia territory, which continued into modern times, turning into village feuds throughout the “ancient régime”, as aptly described in the diary of Popiglio Girolamo Magni, exiled in 1559 due to a feud between and his family and those of other villages. “When his brother Onofrio killed a young man of the land - son of Menichin Lippi - who had beaten him in public, afraid of the danger of being killed by the deceased’s relatives and knowing he could no longer remain in Popiglio”, he had no choice but flee to Lucca where he stayed for over five years. (The Diary of Girolamo Magni. Life, devotion and art on the Pistoiese Mountain of the 16th Century, by F. Falletti, Pisa 1999)

The border controls of Popiglio

In second half of the 18th Century, at the time of the amendment of the border control system made by Pietro Leopoldo, there was talk of a “border control in Pupiglio, that would watch over the main roads coming from Vico, Limano and Lucchio, all castles of the state of Lucca”, roads clearly outlined on a map of those times, nowadays preserved in the State Archives of Florence. (The Mountain Road Conditions in a document of military topography of the 18th century, second part, “Historical Bulletin of Pistoia”, XCV, 1993 A. Ottanelli ).

The suspended bridge over the river lima and The foundries of Mammiano

Located near Popiglio is one of the highest suspended bridges of Europe, built at the start of the 20th century over the river Lima to allow people to reach the other side of the valley and the main industrial areas of the mountain. There have been important factories since the medieval times that used the energy produced by the mountain waters and wood from the forests to process the iron extracted from mines on Elba and the area of Maremma.

The suspended bridge was built by SMI in 1922 to connect the people of Popiglio to the foundry in Ponte Benedetta, built at the end of the 18th century near the inhabited area of Mammiano along the road to Abetone.

The bridge of Castruccio and the legend of Filippo Tedici

Popiglio was in a crucial position for the medieval road connections, as confirmed by the special need to protect and control the road “from where came Carfagnini” back in the constitution of the Governor of Pistoia in 1296. Therefore Popiglio played a leading role in the battles, which stained the Pistoiese Mountain in Medieval times and in particular in the battles, which resulted from the conflict between Lucca and Castrucci Castracani against the Florentine and Pistoiese people in the first half of the 14th century. According to the legend, Filippo Tedici was killed right near the bridge of Campanelle; his family, taking advantage of the support of Lucca, had become lords of Pistoia, then allied with Florence.

Following the death of Castracani, Filippo Tedici - at the time exiled from Pistoia - tried to relieve the city of its control by the Florentine Guelfi, entering the territory of Pistoia through the Lima Valley but was attacked and killed by the local people who were still faithful to Pistoia.

	Verso la Lucchesia: Popiglio e la Val di Lima

Route 1: The bridges and customs of Popiglio 

Route 2: The mule track to Popiglio and the towers of Popiglio 

Route 3: The cycle circuit of Popiglio

Turn over the map to see the outlay of these routes
Directions:

From route SS n. 66 Pistoia – La Lima take the main road “mammianese-marlianese” SS n. 633 at “La Colonna” towards Piteglio. After about 2,5 km, near a hairpin bend at “Il Curvone” take the road towards “Lolle”. After 300 metres keep to the right and follow the road for about 3 km.


Route 1

The bridges and customs of popiglio

	Slope
	Negligible
	Equipment
	Camera, trekking boots



	Distance of return trip


	2 km


	Duration of route


	1 hr



	Difficulty


	None



	Tipe of path


	Mule track




	Recommended period


	All year


	Starting point


	Lambure parking lot (400 metres above sea-level)




At Lamure, cars can be left in the field allocated for parking and our walk begins on the asphalt road that runs along for a few hundred yards in the valley. Leaving the Lambure estate, we reach Casa Corsetto, which was not long ago, a riding school. A mule track descends rapidly to the right to the Castruccio Bridge, known as Campanelle Bridge by the locals. This bridge dates back to the 14th century and was then the only link between the territories of Pistoia and Lucca; it is nowadays a great example of medieval architecture. The bridge was commissioned by Castruccio Castracani, commander of Lucca; later the Grand Duke of Tuscany had some buildings constructed around the bridge used as border controls, which have recently been restored. 

The bridge is made an individual arch (humpback) and crosses the stream Lima, which flows down from the slopes of the Libro Aperto (“Open Book”). While the Lima used to be a rapid stream, nowadays numerous hydroelectric stations control its flow. Thanks to this it has become popular with expert canoeists and especially with fishermen for the abundance of trout (Trutta fario)

As we continue along the mule track, we reach a small stone bridge on the brook Torbecchia. It is very common to find cyclamen plants (Cyclamen europaeum). A protected species, it is bulbous, evergreen and poisonous, with thread-like stems (10-15 cm) and dark green heart-shaped leaves. The sweet-smelling flowers have purplish red petals.

The mule track continues to the right for a few hundred metres parallel to the Lima. After a slight curve, the path swerves left, climbs briefly to then swerve right and goes down down to meet the bridge over the Liesina. This bridge with double arches was built at the start of the 1800s after the bridge previously there was completely destroyed. Here we reach the end of our itinerary, while the track continues towards Lucchio.

The trout found in the Lima (Trutta fario), which can grow up to 60 cm in length, has a dark green or grey back, speckled with black or red dots and a blue or pink circles. It lives in waters with plenty of oxygen and with a temperature not higher than 18°C, feeding on insect, small fish and eggs.

Mills: nowadays only derelict ruins can be found. It is however possible to find well preserved grindstones and canal system connecting the mills.

	Route 1

The bridges and customs of Popiglio 

The return trip is about 2 km on a practicable mule track. The itinerary is charming even if not very well known and can be done throughout the whole year. From the parking lot, after a brief slope, soon reaches the bridge of Castruccio and the smaller bridge over the brook Torbecchia. Continuing on the mule track for a short while along the stream Lima the walk leads to the bridge over the stream Liesina.




Route 2
La mulattiera verso Popiglio e le Torri di Popiglio

	Slope


	 580 metres


	Equipment


	Camera, trekking boots



	Distance of return trip


	5 km


	Duration of route


	3,5 hrs



	Difficulty


	Medium


	Type of path


	Foot-path, mule track, dirt road and asphalt road



	Recommended period


	All year


	Starting point


	Bridge of Castruccio




Signs: white and red MTP

Having crossed the bridge of Castruccio (360 metres above sea-level) the walk continues on the paved mule track that rises steeply skimming the ditch of Vingone. The water of this ditch used to supply the mills, only ruins today, where wheat and chestnut were ground. The mule track, which is still in good condition, rises with some sharp bends through a thick wood of locust-trees and rare varieties of pine and chestnut trees. It then reaches the town of Popiglio; the origin of this name appears to be from a roman commander (Marco Popiglio Lenate or Lucio Caio Pompilio) who had set up their campsite in this area. 
Having gone through a stone archway, the procedes in Via della Veduta (View Road). This ancient road is the connection to the Lima Valley. A network of small paved roads looks onto the Lima Valley through arch and terraces. Some Verginine dating back to 18th century lead what used to be the processional walk of the town.

After crossing through the medieval town we reach the parish of Saint Mary, which was built in late-Romanesque style seems to date back to 1271. Consisting of a single nave, its façade has a door surmounted by a suspended prothyrum and three mullioned windows can be seen above, one with three lights flanked by two with two lights. There are various works of art preserved inside, which include an antique stone pulpit. 

From the parking lot (505 metres above sea-level, near the tennis courts, we take via Fabbrica, which goes around the public gardens with the monument to soldiers fallen during the Great War. It then goes up past the gardens up to Via Valley (Valley Road), following an old processional path. We continue to walk uphill, past a group of houses, to a panoramic terrace. Looking East we can see the entire valley if the Limestre river until its confluence into the Lima Valley.

We take a right into Via Ritondolo and go along this road until we reach a dirt path. Just before the “Rupine” cottage, we take the MPT path forking off to the left, sloping rapidly uphill in the woods until the main road. After a few hundred metres, we turn left on a path, which goes uphill to the ruins of the medieval towers, 811 metres above sea level. We then return downhill on the same path, down Via Ritondolo, and proceed on Via Eusebio until a sharp bend to the left. There we take a right on to Via della Croce (Road of the Cross), a narrow paved road, which descends rapidly in the western side of the town. A short while ahead we leave Via di Canapali, an old road connecting the town and the church of Saint John (now a private villa). Once near the main road we take a left onto Via delle Marche, which goes through a small town and finally reach the convent of Saint Francis and Saint Dominic.

Going along Via Arco Lungo (Long Arch Road) we reach once more the main road near the parish of Saint Mary and then the parking lot. We then continue downhill along the mule track to the bridge of Castruccio.



Verginine: these are ancient shrines with sacred images, placed along processional paths, which spread out from the parish to the town. Both the parish of Saint Mary and the processionals belong the Museum of Sacred Art and Popular Religiousness in the project of the Mountain Eco-museum of Pistoia (info: Cultural Office of Pistoia, phone 0573-97461 during office hours or e-mail ecomuseo@provincia.pistoia.it ).

orario ufficio ;  ecomuseo@provincia.pistoia.it). 

Locust-tree (Robinia pseudoacacia): Imported from America in 1600 by Robin, a gardener whose name the plant takes after. It can grow to a height of 15 metres and is easily recognizable by its dome-shaped foliage. The bark has crack running lengthwise while the branches have smooth bark, covered by thorns. It has plenty of small, light green leaves. During spring its white flowers give off a pungent sweet perfume that attracts bees.

	Route 2

The muletrack to Popiglio and towers of Popiglio 

Hacing crosse the bridge of Castruccio we take the old mule track, which goes up to the town of Popiglio. Walking through old picturesque streets we reach the historical part of town and on to the ancient towers built on the ridge dominating the valleys of Limestre and Lima.




Route 3
Popiglio Cycle path  - MTB path

	Slope


	 850 metres


	Advised period


	All year



	Distance of return trip
	37 Km


	Starting point


	Bridge of Castruccio (360 metres above sea-level)



	Difficulty


	Medium


	Type of path


	Foot-path, mule track and asphalt road




Leaving the field allocated for parking near Lambure, we go up to the hairpin bend and go back to road 633 “mammianese-marlianese” towards Piteglio. A few hundred metres past the village of Migliorini we turn right. When we get to the town of Piteglio we go past the school and continue to the bottom of the valley and continue for 6 km until Casa di Monte walking along a quiet shaded road. From Casa di Monte we go a little way uphill and then downhill to join the road towards Pescia. We reach Crespole and after 1km Lanciole. Following a hairpin bend we go up towards Pontito and turn right just before the town on a road that goes over the town. 

We go past the church of Madonna delle Grazie and the road becomes unmade just before the aqueduct. We continue on the dirt track leading to us to the village Craco a Veglia (906 metres above sea-level) and its characteristic chapel.

We procede to the left along a “red” road that skims the ridge, offering a fantastic view over “Svizzera Pesciatina” (literally Pescia Switzerland), and we continue until the forking which takes towards Lucchio. The dirt track winds around the eastern slope of the Penna di Lucchio, an impressive calcareous rock formation, which rises behind the medieval castle of Lucchio. We continue downhill on the asphalt road until the bridge over the stream Lima near the Tana a Termini. We take road 12 East and walk up for about 4 km to Popiglio, where we then take the mule track at the bridge of Castruccio (see Itinerary 2).

Suspended bridge: this is a rope bridge crossing the stream Lima. It is 200 metres long, just under 2 metres in width and it is suspended at a height of 36 metres. It is made of metal grating and steel cables, with no central support. It was built in 1922 (by the company Metallurgica Italiana) to improve connections for the workers living in Popiglio who worked in the mines in Mammiano Basso. Nowadays the bridge only has tourist importance.

	Route 3

Cycle path of Popiglio

This path is 37 km long and requires a certain amount of effort. It is on asphalt roads to be covered entirely on mountain bikes. From the parking lot at Lamure we reach the road going to Piteglio. After a few hundred metres past the village of Migliorini, we veer right towards Piteglio. At the schools we take a downhill road to the valley and then back up to Casa di Monte. Here we go down to the road to the villages of Crespole, Lanciole, then Pontito and up to Croce a Veglia. On a dirt track we go down to Lucchio and proceed on asphalt road to the bridge, near the “Tana a Termini”. Here we go back up to Popiglio and then down to the bridge of Castruccio. It is highly advisable to wear a helmet and bring a water bottle.



